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SCHWARZER, Senior District Judge. Ryan |Iron Wrks, Inc.

(Ryan) petitions for reviewof an order of the Nati onal Labor Rel ations
Board (Board) findingviolations of Sections 8(a)(3) and (5) of the
Nat i onal Labor Rel ations Act (Act), 29 U.S. C. 88 158(a)(3) and (5).
The Board has cross-applied for enforcenent of its order inwhichit
found that Ryan had commtted a series of unfair | abor practices during
negoti ations for a newcol |l ective bargai ni ng agreenment (CBA) withthe
bar gai ni ng representative of its enpl oyees, Shopnen’s Local 501,
| nt ernati onal Association of Bridge, Structural and Ornanental
| ronwor kers, AFL-ClI O(the Union), and that an econom c strikeof its
enpl oyees was converted into an unfair | abor practice strike foll ow ng
an i nci dent of direct dealing between Ryan’ s president and one of its
workers. W affirmthe Board s order with respect to the unfair | abor
practices but holdthat the record | acks substantial support for the
finding that the stri ke was converted prior toits term nation on
Decenber 8, 1995. Accordingly, we grant the Board’'s applicationin
part only.
FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Ryan i s a corporation engagedinthe fabrication of iron,
steel and netal products at its plant i n Raynham Massachusetts. It
has been party to a series of CBAs with Local 501 for nore than twenty-
five years. The nbst recent CBA between the parties was ineffect from

Sept enber 11, 1992, to Septenber 10, 1995. The events givingriseto
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this controversy occurred in the course of the negotiations for a
successor CBA.

The parties nmet i n negotiations eight tinmes fromAugust 18
t o Novenber 10, 1995. The Uni on presented a |l i st of demands, incl uding
signi ficant wage and benefits i ncreases, and Ryan, inturn, proposedto
reduce wages and benefits in several areas. At the August 29 sessi on,
Uni on representative David Mortimer (Mortiner) told Ryan’ s negotiating
t eamt hat t he conpany’ s proposal was “an i nsult and a pi ece of garbage”
and that the Union “would not give up one cent” in givebacks or
concessi ons of any ki nd. Anot her Uni on official made a sim | ar coment
at t he August 31 session, where Ryan offered to increaseits pension
and heal th i nsurance contributions, and reiterated that the Uni on woul d
not agree to any gi vebacks or concessi ons.

On Septenber 7 the Union filed an unfair | abor practice
charge agai nst Ryan for failure to bargainingoodfaith, acharge that
was ultimately rej ected by the Board. On Septenber 8 t he enpl oyees
voted to reject Ryan's proposal. Because of the pendency of the
charge, the Uniontoldits nmenbers that a stri ke would be anunfair
| abor practice stri ke as opposed to an econom ¢ stri ke, nmeani ng t hat

none of themcoul d be permanently repl aced.® The nenbers took a stri ke

Unli ke economic strikers, unfair | abor practices strikers are
entitledto reinstatenent and back pay evenif they have been repl aced
during the strike. NLRBv. Harding dass Co., Inc., 80 F.3d 7, 10n.3
(1st Cir. 1997).
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vot e and went out on Septenber 11, the day after the CBA expired. The
parties continued to neet, however, and at t he Sept enber 18 session the
Uni on nodifiedits proposal, reducing bothits hourly wage and pensi on
fund contri buti on demands. Ryanrejectedthis proposal and on Cct ober
2 countered wi th a proposal which included anincreaseinvacationtinme
for certain enpl oyees and t he shoe al | owance but enlargeditsright to
subcontract unit work. The Unionrejectedthis proposal but nmade a
count er proposal for athree-year contract providing for i ncreased wages
and pensi on contri butions.

On Cct ober 23, Ryan’ s presi dent, Howard Shea (Shea), invited
Wal | ace Penni man ( Penni man), who was wal ki ng the picket linewth
twenty tothirty other striking enpl oyees, totake aridetoinspect
one of Ryan’s construction jobs. Penninan agreed and t he two nmen drove
of f. The parties dispute nuch of the content of the conversation
during that car trip. Accordingto Penninman, Shea stated “that it was
the Union’s fault [that negoti ati ons were goi ng poorly] because t hey
weren’t negotiatingw th the Conpany” and asked what exactly the nen
want ed. Penni man tol d Shea that the enpl oyees’ mai n concern was
seniority, and Shea responded t hat Ryan’ s proposal on seniority was
nmer el y a bar gai ni ng tool or a snokescreen to gai n concessi ons. Shea
t ol d Penni man “t hat [ Ryan] was goi ng t o need anot her t hree-year pay

freeze to be conpetitive with the non-union shops.” The two nen then

di scussed t he possi bl e pay freeze, as wel | as vacati ons, holi days, work
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boot al |l owances, subcontracting, pensions, health insurance and
arbitration. Accordingto Pennimn, the di scussi on was ext ensi ve,
lasting the entire drive to Wal thamand back, atrip of about three
hours. Before dropping hi moff, Shea tol d Penni man that this was t he
t ype of negoti ating he was hopi ng for fromthe Uni on and sai d t hat
therewereonly afewitens on Ryan’s | ist that it needed. As Penni man
got out of the car at the picket line, Sheatold him“not to worry
about it, that it was going to be resolved.”

I n histestinony, Shea admtted that he tol d Penni man t hat
t he Uni on had refused to respond t o any of the conpany’ s proposal s but
deni ed that t here was any subst anti ve di scussi on of Ryan’ s bar gai ni ng
proposals. According to Shea, when Penni man asked hi mabout the
negoti ations, Shea told himthey should not discuss them

The Adm nistrative Law Judge (ALJ) accepted Penni man’s
versi on of the conversation and found that Shea had dealt directly with
an i ndi vi dual enpl oyee concerni ng t he negoti ati ons, thereby unlawful |y
bypassi ng and underm ni ng the Union.

Penni man testified that the conversationledhimtofeel
optim stic about the possibility of a quick resol ution and that he
shared it with the other picketers who sawhi ml eave and returnw th
Shea. Later that day he told Uni on representative Morti ner about the
conversation and Morti ner arranged for anot her negoti ati ng sessi on on

Cct ober 25. The parties di spute whether the Uni on brought up the
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Shea/ Penni man conversation at that session. Ryan argues t hat there was
no mention of theincident and Mortiner testified as nuch, but Union
negoti ator Janmes Devlintestifiedthat when he rai sed t he questi on of
the di fferences between t he positions taken by Ryan at the tabl e and
t hose taken away fromthe table he was referring in part to the
Shea/ Penni man i nci dent. In any case, Ryan di d not change its position.
VWhen Union officials reportedthistothe enpl oyees, the enpl oyees
reacted wi t h di sappoi nt ment and anger. Havi ng been | ed to believe that
an earlyresolutionwas inthe offing, some bl amed t he Uni on for the
| ack of progress.

On Novenber 6 Ryan unilaterally altered the terns of
enpl oynment by inplenmenting the changes in the CBA set out inits
Cct ober 2 proposal. On Novenber 10 it al so di scontinued contri butions
to t he Nati onal Shopnen Pensi on Fund (Fund) required under the expired
CBA. At the final negotiating session on that sane day, the Uni on
nodifiedits earlier proposal and accepted sone of Ryan’s proposal s.
Ryan rej ected t he Uni on proposal and stood onits Cctober 2 proposal.
On Novenber 16 the Union withdrewits previous proposal and offered a
t hree-year extension of the expired contract with several wage freeze
concessi ons. On Novenber 21 Ryanrejected that proposal but toldthe
Union that it was willing to neet to “discuss the significant
di fferences between them”

On Decenber 7 Ryan received a petition signed by fifty-five

-7-



enpl oyees stating that they nol onger wi shed to be represented by t he
Union and it notified the Union that it was therefore w thdraw ng
recognitionfromthe Union. On Decenber 8 the Union votedto endthe
stri ke and faxed Ryan aletter offering the return of all striking
wor kers to their jobs by Decenber 11. Wen t he wor kers showed up t hey
were met by Shea, who told themthere were no jobs for them
STANDARD OF REVI EW

We grant the Board “deference with regard to its

interpretation of the Act aslongasitsinterpretationisrational and

consistent withthe statute.” NLRBv. Beverly Enters.-Mass., Inc., 174

F.3d 13, 22 (1st Cir. 1999). “The Board’'s findings of fact are
conclusive if supported by substantial evidence on the record
considered as a whole.” [d. at 21. Substantial evidence is “such
rel evant evi dence as a reasonabl e m nd m ght accept as adequate to

support a conclusion.” Universal Canera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U. S. 474,

477 (1951) (citationomtted). The ultimte questionis ® whether on
this recordit woul d have been possi bl e for areasonable jury toreach

the Board’ s conclusion.”” NLRB v. Hosp. of San Pabl o, I nc., 207 F. 3d

67, 70 (1st Cir. 2000) (quotingAllentown Mack Sales & Svec., Inc. v.

NLRB, 522 U.S. 359, 366-67 (1998)).
l. THE DI RECT DEALI NG CHARGE
A. The Unfair Labor Practice Charge

The Board accepted the ALJ' s finding that Shea’ s di scussi on
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wi t h Penni man was a vi ol ati on of Section 8(a)(5), which prohibits
enpl oyers frombypassi ng t he Uni on and deal i ng directly wi th enpl oyees.
Ryaninitially attacks the ALJ’ s credi bility determ nati on, whi ch was
based principally on the rel ative denmeanor of the w tnesses and
affirmed by the Board.? That determinationis entitledto great weight

because the ALJ saw and heard the wi tnesses testify, see Hol yoke

Visiting Nurses Ass'n v. NLRB, 11 F. 3d 302, 308 (1st Cir. 1993), and we

wi Il not disturbit solongas the ALJ's positionrepresents achoice
betweentwo fairly conflicting views. We will set aside such findings
only if we believethat the ALJ overstepped t he bounds of reason. |d.;

3-ECo., Inc. v. NRB, 26 F.3d 1, 3 (1st Cir. 1994). Wiilethe ALJ' s

fi ndi ng may have been sonewhat conclusory, we see nothinginthe record
to suggest that it was unreasonabl e.

Ryan next contends that even if Penniman’ s testinony is
credited, the conversation he describes is not sufficient toestablish
adirect dealing violation. Section 8(a)(5) of the Act i nposes a duty
on an enpl oyer to bargain collectively withits enployees’ chosen
representative. This obligationis exclusive and Section 9(a) of the

Act, 29 U. S.C 8§ 159(a), accordingly “exacts¢ he negative duty to treat

’The ALJ gave t hree reasons for bel i evi ng Penni man over Shea, only
one of whi ch was adopt ed by t he Board: Penni man’ s deneanor. The ot her
two were: (1) the ALJ' s incorrect belief that Penni man was no | onger a
Ryan enpl oyee or a Uni on nember and t herefore had no stake in his
testimony, and (2) his assunption that Shea woul d not take a striking
wor ker fromthe picket line for a drive and not nention the strike.
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with noother.”” Medo Photo Supply Corp. v. NLRB, 321 U. S. 678, 684

(1944) (quoting NLRB v. Jones & Laughlin Steel Corp., 301 U.S. 1, 44

(1937)). “[Orderly collective bargainingrequires that the enpl oyer
be not permttedto go behindthe designated representatives, in order
to bargain with the enpl oyees thenselves. . . .” |d. at 685. “The
fundamental inquiryinadirect dealing caseis whether the enpl oyer
has chosen ¢ o deal with the Union throughthe enpl oyees, rather than

with the enpl oyees through the Union.”” NLRB v. Pratt Wiitney Ai r

Craft Div., 789 F.2d 121, 134 (2d Cir. 1986) (citation omtted).

The Board found that Shea’ s di scussi on w t h Penni nan anount ed
to direct deal i ng because “[ Shea] told Penniman that it was the Union’s
faul t because they [sic] were not negoti atingw ththe Conpany, asked
Penni man what t he enpl oyees want ed, and sought to m ninm ze [ Ryan’ s]
bar gai ni ng demands.” Ryan contends that t he Board erroneously applied
the | aw and t hat Shea’s comments were nerely an attenpt to inform
enpl oyees about t he course of the negotiations and Ryan’ s position.

See United Technol ogies Corp., 275 NLRB 1069, 1074 (1985) (“[A]n

enpl oyer has a fundanental right, protected by Secti on 8©of the Act,
to communicatewithits enpl oyees concerningits positionincollective
bar gai ni ng negoti ati ons and t he course of those negotiations.”). Ryan
characterizes the incident as sinply conversati on about proposal s whi ch
had al ready been subnmtted to t he Uni on and encouragenent to press

Uni on officialstostart tal king to managenent. Al though Ryan concedes
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t hat Shea bl aned t he Uni on for the | ack of progress, it argues t hat
Shea never encour aged Penni man t o abandon t he Uni on i n order to achi eve
a better deal.

Whi | e an enpl oyer may communi cate or clarifyits positionto
enpl oyees, Shea, evenif he did not encourage abandonnent of the Uni on,
went wel | beyond what i s perm ssible. Shea told Penninman that the
failure of negotiations was the Union’s fault and actively solicited
Penni man’ s input on “what exactly . . . the nmen want.” Such
solicitation all ows an enpl oyer togainintelligence on enpl oyees’
views and to gauge the | evel of support for a particul ar position,
underm ni ng t he chosen representative' s exclusiveright toperform

t hese functions. See Al exander Linn Hosp. Ass’n, 288 NLRB 103, 106

(1988), enforced, NNRBv. VAl | kill Valley Gen. Hosp., 866 F. 2d 632 (3d

Cr. 1989); NLRBv. MA. Harrison Mg. Co., 682 F. 2d 580, 581-82 (6th

Cir. 1982) (enforcing Board order agai nst enpl oyer for bypassi ng Uni on
by directly soliciting enployee views on an i nsurance plan). Shea,
t hrough Penni man, obtai ned i nformati on about t he enpl oyees’ vi ews on
seniority, holidays, vacationtine, a 401K pl an, health insurance, a
wor k boot al | owance and subcontracting. Thisisavirtual laundry |i st
of the issues Ryan and the Union were covering in negotiations.

Contrary to Ryan’ s contentions, Shea’s comments on t hese
subj ect s went beyond nerely clarifyingthe proposal s the conpany had

al ready submtted to the Union. For instance, he tol d Penni man t hat
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several of Ryan’s stated positions were snokescreens, and t hat Ryan
only intended to take away two holidays rather than the five it
denmanded at t he bargai ning table. Additionally, his subsequent conment
to Penniman that, “that’s what we’'re |ooking for, that kind of

negotiating,” inplies that he was attenmpting to negotiatewththe
enpl oyees t hrough Penni man. Rat her than “nmerely communi cat[i ng] what
was al ready before the Union in a proper exercise of [Ryan’s] free

speech rights,” Shea sought feedback froman enpl oyee to strengt hen

Ryan’s positioninthe negotiations. (f'. Anericare Pi ne Lodge Nursing

and Rehab. Ctr. v. NLRB, 164 F. 3d 867, 877 (4th G r. 1999). That Shea
pi cked Penni man up at t he crowded pi cket |ine and three hours | ater
dr opped hi moff where ot her enpl oyees woul d noti ce and ask questi ons
reinforces this conclusion.

Thi s case t hus bears no resenbl ance to Aneri care Pi ne Lodge

Nur si ng and Rehabilitati on Center v. NLRB, 164 F. 3d at 878-79, on whi ch

Ryan relies. There, a supervisor asked a bargai ning unit enpl oyee
duri ng a snoki ng break what she t hought of a recent enpl oyer proposal,
t he enpl oyee responded t hat it “sounded good, but that it was only nade

toget ridof the Union,” and the conversation went nofurther. 1d. at
878. The court heldthat “[n] o reasonabl e person coul d concl ude t hat
this brief exchange eroded the Union’s position as the exclusive

bar gai ni ng representative.” 1d. Shea’ s three-hour discussionwth

Penni man was nore than thi s “casual conversation.” 1d. Shea actively
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solicited Penniman’ s vi ews, nade new proposal s, and, at | east with
respect to the subcontracting i ssue, questi oned Penni man as to howt he
conpany’s offer could be inmproved. [d. at 879.

| n sum substantial evidence supports the Board' s fi ndi ng
t hat Shea’ s Oct ober 23 conversati on with Penni man vi ol at ed Secti on
8(a)(5) of the Act.

B. Conver si on

“Astrike begunin support of econom c obj ectives becones an
unfair | abor practice strike when the enpl oyer comm ts an i ntervening
unfair | abor practice whichis foundto make the strike |l ast | onger

than it ot herwi se woul d have.” Soul e d ass and d azi ng Co. v. NLRB,

652 F. 2d 1055, 1079 (1st Cir. 1981). Not every unfair | abor practice
will convert astrike, however. W have held that “[c]ausationis
crucial: <t nust be found not only that the enpl oyer comm tted an
unfair | abor practice after the cormencenent of the strike, but that as
aresult the strike was “expanded to i ncl ude a protest over [the]

unfair | abor practice[],” and that settl enent of the stri ke was t her eby

del ayed and the stri ke prolonged.’” Harding d ass, 80 F.3d at 10

(quoting Soul e 4 ass, 652 F. 2d at 1079-80). The General Counsel bears

t he burden of establishing that “the unl awful conduct was a factor (not
necessarily the sol e or predom nat e one) that caused a prol ongati on of

t he work stoppage.” C-Line Express, 292 NLRB 638 (1989). The Board

may consi der both objective and subjective evidence i n assessi ng
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whet her the General Counsel has met this burden:

Applying objective criteria, the Board and
reviewing court may properly consider the
probabl e i npact of the type of unfair |abor
practiceinquestiononreasonable strikersin
the rel evant context. Appl yi ng subjective
criteria, the Board and court nmay give
substantial weight to the strikers’ own
characterization of their notive for continui ng
to strike after the unfair |abor practice.

Soul e G ass, 652 F.2d at 1080.

The ALJ found that Shea’ s activity did not convert the strike
because t here was no evi dence t hat t he enpl oyees continued to stri ke
because of it. Amjority of the Board di sagreed, findingthat the
stri ke had been converted because t he unl awful effort to bypass the
Uni on’ s representatives “coul d not hel p but prevent and i nhi bit good-
faith bargai ning, thereby prolongingthestrike.” It further found
thi s objectiveinference to be supported by subjective evidence of the
di visive effect of this conduct on the strikers and their union
negoti ators. Board Menber Hurtgen di ssented, findingthat there was no
evi dence that the single, isolatedincident of direct dealing had a
del et eri ous i npact on subsequent negoti ations or that it prol onged the
strike.

The Board has in the past recogni zed that:

the presence or absence of evidence of

[ enpl oyees’ ] subj ective notivation has not al ways

been t he si ne qua non for determnm ning whet her

t here has been a conversion. Certaintypes of
unfair | abor practices by their nature wi ||l have
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a reasonabl e tendency to prol ong t he stri ke and
therefore afford a sufficient and i ndependent
basi s for finding conversion. The nost notabl e
exanpl es typi cal ly i nvol ve an unl awf ul wi t hdr awnal
of recognition which nay be acconpani ed by a
course of other unlawful conduct, including
wi t hdrawal of contract proposals, refusals to
meet and bargain, and recognition of another
uni on. The common t hr ead runni ng t hrough t hese
cases is the judgnent of the Board that the
enpl oyer’s conduct iIs likely to have
significantly interrupted or burdened t he course
of the bargai ni ng process.

C-Li ne Express, 292 NLRB at 639. See also Harding d ass, 80 F. 3d at 11

(citing SKS Di e Casting & Machining., Inc. v. NLRB, 941 F. 2d 984, 991

(9th Gr. 1991) (refusal toreinstate strikers); Wulcan Hart Corp. (St.

Louis Div.) v. NLRB, 718 F. 2d 269, 276 (8th Cir. 1983) (w t hdrawal of

recognition)). But, as we said in Harding @ ass:

Al ways, however, the principal focus nust remain
on the element of causation, and specific,
subj ecti ve evi dence of changed noti vati on may be
foregone only in those i nstances i n which the
objective factors by thenselves establish
unequi vocal ly that a conversion occurred.

80 F.3d at 12. Here, the Boardrelies onwhat it calls an "“objective
i nference” that Shea’ s conduct prol onged the strike, but it cites no
obj ecti ve evidence and we agree with the ALJ that “thereis sinply no

evi dence that the enpl oyees continued to stri ke because of Shea’s

activity.” Nor do the decisions in Safeway Trails, 233 NLRB 1078

(1977), enforced, 641 F.2d 930 (D.C. Cir. 1979), andBeaunont d ass

Co., 310 NLRB 710 (1993), on which the Board relied, support its
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deci si on.

The Board has i n anot her cont ext descri bed Saf eway Trail s as

i nvol vi ng “an egregi ous ef fort by t he enpl oyer to obtai nthe enpl oyees’
repudi ati on of their union representative as a preconditionto revoking

a col |l ective bargai ni ng agreenent.” Forest Grove Lunmber Co., 275 NLRB

1007, 1007 n.1 (1985). There, the enpl oyer had engaged i n repeat ed
oral and written comuni cations with enpl oyees and others clearly
i ntended t o underm ne t he status and authority of the union’s chosen
bar gai ni ng representative in violationof Section 8(a)(5). These
efforts to underm ne the uni on representative were well known to t he
enpl oyees and wer e di scussed at neeti ngs of the uni on nenbershi p. The
Board found that:

Under t hese circunstances, theinferenceis clear
t hat t he Respondent’ s acti ons and conmuni cati ons
served to aggravat e and prol ong the strike. The
fact that the Respondent was not successful in
undercutting [the Union representative] does not
negate our finding that the Respondent’s
m sconduct was a concern to enployees and a
factor in the prolongation of the strike.
Mor eover, the very nature of the Respondent’s
m sconduct - - appeal i ng directly to enpl oyees i n an
attenpt to undercut the union representative--is
such as coul d not hel p but prevent and i nhi bit
good- f ai t h bargai ni ng, thereby prol ongi ng the
strike.

Saf eway Trails, 233 NLRB at 1082.

The i nstant case--invol ving a singl eincident which had no

di scerni bl e inpact on the ongoi ng bargai ning process--bears no
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resenbl ance to Safeway Trails. Nor does it bear even renote

resenbl ance t o Beaunont 3 ass, where conver si on was found on evi dence

that: the enpl oyer sent a menorandumt o t he nenmber shi p of the union
wi t h a proposal whi ch had not previously been nmade at t he bar gai ni ng
t abl e; the enpl oyees conpl ai ned t o the uni on representati ve when he
tol d themt he proposal woul d not be put to avote; the representative
testifiedthat “the publication and distributionof the menorandum
destroyed t he negoti ati ons” and t hat no neani ngf ul negoti ati ng sessi ons
wer e hel d subsequently; and the uni on changed the | anguage onits
pi cket signstosignifyit was protesting the enpl oyer’s unfair |abor
practices. 310 NLRB at 719. No such evi dence appears inthis record.
| ndeed, if the Shea/ Penni man i nci dent was ever nenti oned at t he Cct ober
25 negoti ating sessionat all, it was at nost a passi ng reference. 3
Mortiner |ater testifiedthat no progress was nmade during that session
because “we bot h agreed t hat we were just nmaki ng no changes. W were
sticking toour proposal. . . . After alittle discussionfromboth

si des, it was obvi ous not hi ng was goi ng t o change. The i nci dent
was apparently not nentioned at t he Oct ober 30 session either and, as
not ed above, the Union did not file anunfair | abor practice charge

regarding the incident until nearly six nonths |ater.

We findForest Gove Lunber Conpany, 275 NLRB 1007, npore

cl osely on point. There, the enpl oyer, during a stri ke, had several

3See supra p. *, lines 93-99.
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di scussi ons wi t h enpl oyees about t he status of negotiations, many quite
sim |l ar tothe Shea/ Penni man conversation. Enployees testifiedthat
t he vi ce presi dent spoke to themabout t he conpany’ s proposal s, the
stal emate i n negoti ati ons, and the union’ s refusal to bargain, and
solicitedtheir views onwhat it woul dtake to get the strikers back to
wor k. One enpl oyee stated that the vice president told himthat the
conpany’s proposal was not a firm proposal, that everything was
negoti abl e, and t hat only by asking for nore than what it wanted coul d
t he conpany reach an agreenment. Inrejectingthe General Counsel’s
contention that the stri ke had been converted, the Board said:

Saf eway Trails invol ved t he factual context of an
egregious effort by the enpl oyer to obtainthe
enpl oyees’ repudi ati on  of their uni on
representative as a preconditiontorevokinga
col I ecti ve-bargai ni ng agreenent. Consequently,
t he unl awf ul conduct inSafeway Trails clearly
i ntruded on t he bar gai ni ng process and “coul d not
hel p but” prolong the strike. Incontrast, the
Respondent’s unl awful conduct here invol ved
solicitation of enployees to urge their
representati ves to soften the Union’s bargai ni ng
demands, and there was no effort to repudi ate
t hose bargai ning representatives. The unfair
| abor practices here did not have any i nevitabl e
i mpact on bargai ni ng t hat woul d necessarily cause
prol ongati on of the strike.

ld. at 1007 n. 1.
Si mply put, that the Shea/ Penni man conversati on may have rai sed
hopes anong enpl oyees for anearly endto the strike--hopes that were

dashed when negoti ati ons resuned, | eadingto “consternati on” anong
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enpl oyees- - does not support the conclusionthat the strike was thereby
prol onged. “The Board s obligationisto provide sone basis for an
inferencethat, inthe aftermath of the [unfair | abor practice], the

enpl oyees were separately notivated by that act.” Harding d ass, 80

F.3d at 12. It is clear that the stri ke was about econom c i ssues and
thereis no evidence that the strikers’ notivation changed, i n whol e or

in part, on account of the Sheal/Penniman incident.* See Facet

Enterprises, Inc. v. NLRB, 907 F. 2d 963, 977 (10th G r. 1990) (“[T]o

sustain a findi ng of conversion, there nust be some evidence inthe
record that the . . . enployees reacted to i nformati on of Facet’s
di rect deal i ng substantively in afashi on which aggravat ed or prol onged

the strike.”); seealso F.L. Thorpe &Co., Inc. v. NLRB, 71 F. 3d 282,

288 (8th Cr. 1995) (holdingit was error to base conversion findi ng on
“caused consternati on” test where evidence established stri ke remai ned

econom cal ly notivated); G bson Geetings, Inc., 310 NLRB 1286, 1292

n.5 (1993) (finding no conversion because “[a] |l though several strikers
testifiedthat they were di stressed by the [ Conpany’s] | etter, none

suggested that it was because of that letter that the stri ke continued,

“The General Counsel did not brief theissue but contended at oral
argunent that the record was devoi d of any evi dence that the strikers
wer e separately noti vat ed by t he Shea/ Penni nan conver sati on because t he
ALJ erroneously sustai ned Ryan’ s obj ections tothe necessary |ine of
gquesti oni ng. However, because t he General Counsel’s offer of proof,
whileit shows that the strikers were di sturbed by t he direct dealing,
failstoestablishthat the strikers shiftedthe focus of their protest
t o i ncl ude t he Shea/ Penni man i nci dent and t her eby prol onged t he stri ke,
we find no prejudice.
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nor that the strikers discussed it collectively as a basis for

continuing the strike.”), enforcenment deni ed on ot her grounds, G bson

Greetings, Inc. v. NLRB, 53 F.3d 385 (D.C. Cir. 1995); Soule d ass,

652 F.2d at 1082.

Thus, while we find no basis for disturbing the Board’s
determnationwithregardtothe direct dealing charge, our revi ewof
t he record persuades us that the findi ng of conversiononthat basisis
not supported by substantial evidence.

1. THE UNI LATERAL | MPLEMENTATI ON CHARGE
A The Unfair Labor Practice Charge

On Novenber 6, when somne cross-over enpl oyees began ret ur ni ng
towork, Ryaninplenentedits October 2 contract proposal. The Board
determ ned that this unilateral inplenentationwas an unl awful | abor
practice and, further, that it convertedthe striketo an unfair | abor
practice strike.

“[ Al n enpl oyer nust bargain to i npasse bef ore naki ng a uni | at eral

change” interns and condi tions of enploynment. Visiting Nurse Serv. of

W Mass., Inc. v. NLRB, 177 F. 3d 52, 57 (1st Cir. 1999). *“«l npasse

occurs when, after good faith bargaining, the parties are deadl ocked so
t hat any further bargai ning woul d be futile,” i.e., whend¢here [is] no
realistic prospect that continuati on of di scussions at that tinme would

. . . [be] fruitful.”” Beverly Enters.-Mass., 174 F.3d at 27 (citati on

omtted). Relevant factors include® {t]he bargaining history, the good
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faith of the parties in the negotiations, the length of the
negoti ations, the inportance of theissue or i ssues as to whichthere
i s di sagreenent, [and] t he cont enpor aneous under st andi ng of the parties

astothe state of negotiations.’”” NLRB v. Charles D. Bonanno Li nen

Serv., Inc., 630 F.2d 24, 35n.24 (1st Cir. 1980) (citationonitted).

We have hel d in the past that the determ nation of whether the parties
reached good-faith inpasseis particularly well-suitedtothe expertise

of the Board. See Beverly Enters.-Mass., 174 F.3d at 27.

The Board found that although during the four nont hs of
negoti ations there had been “limted novenment,” credi bl e evi dence
showed t hat Ryan had not been adamant on all its proposals. Both sides
made somne concessi ons, and nore i nportantly, Ryan never tol d the Union
that failuretoagree onits proposal would result in deadl ock or that
t here was an i npasse and that it woul d i npl enent its proposals. See

Hot el Roanoke, 293 NLRB 182, 185 (1989) (“The failure of a party to

communi cate to the other party the paranount inportance of the
proposal s presented at the bargaining table or to explain that a
failureto achi eve concessi ons woul d result in a bargai ni ng deadl ock
evi dences t he absence of avalidinpasse.”). Nor is there evidence that
when Ryan inplenmented its October 2 proposal, or at any tinme
t hereafter, a contenporaneous under st andi ng exi sted between the parties
t hat tal ks were at an i npasse. Indeed, the parties held a negotiating

session with a federal nmediator on Novenber 10, after the
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i npl enent ati on, and t he Uni on of f ered addi ti onal concessi ons at t hat
time. Andinaletter dated Novenber 21, Ryan’s counsel statedthat
al t hough t he Uni on’ s | at est proposal was unacceptable, it was willing
t o meet and di scuss “t he Conpany’ s out st andi ng of fer of Cctober 2nd.”
Ryan had t he burden of proof onthisissueandit failedto sustainit.

See PRC Recordi ng Co., 280 NLRB 615, 635 (1986), enforced, Ri chnond

Recording Corp. v. NLRB, 836 F.2d 289 (7th Cir. 1987).

Subst anti al evi dence supports the Board' s finding that Ryan’s
uni l ateral inplenentationof its Cctober 2 proposal viol ated Section
8(a)(5) of the Act.

B. Conver si on

The Board determ ned that this violation al soconvertedthe
strike, findingthat “[i]n conjunctionwth Shea’s earlier bypass of
the Union, it can beinferredthat [ Ryan’s] unil ateral changes were
al so unfair | abor practices that prol onged the strike.” The Board
found t hat t he enpl oyees nust have been awar e of the i npl enentati on of
t he Cct ober 2 proposal no | ater than Novenber 11, when stri ki ng workers
woul d have noti ced that cross-over and repl acenent enpl oyees were
wor ki ng on Vet erans Day, a holiday, and thus that there had been a
uni l ateral change in the holiday policy. However, as the Board
determned earlier inits opinion, it was not unlawful for Ryanto
i npl ement different terns of enpl oynent for striker replacenents

because struck enpl oyers have no obl i gati on to bargai n about terns of

-22-



enpl oynment for replacements. See Detroit Newspaper Agency, 327 NLRB

871 (1999); see also Service Electric Co., 281 NLRB 633 n. 1 (1986)
(because i nterests of returning econom c strikers are nore cl osely
aligned with those of the strike replacenents than those of the
strikers, an enpl oyer has no greater duty to bargai n duringthe strike
over their terms of enploynent than it does over the strike
replacenents’). Strikers observing workers at the plant that day woul d
t her ef ore not necessarily have concl uded t hat their presence neant that
the ternms of the CBA had been unilaterally changed.

In any event, the Board' s evidence is, at best,
circunmstantial (if not entirely specul ative) proof that enpl oyees nay
have known that a change had been nmade in the terms of (their)
enploynent. But it failstosatisfy “[t]he Board’ s obligation. . . to
provi de sonme basis for an inference that, in the aftermath of the
i npl enent ati on, the enpl oyees were separately notivated by that act.”

Hardi ng G ass, 80 F. 3d at 12. There is no objective or subjective

evidence that the arrival of workers on a holiday notivated the
striking enpl oyees to prolong the strikeor that it interferedwththe
bar gai ni ng process.

The Board’s finding of conversion is not supported by

substanti al evidence. See Beverly Enters.-Miss., 174 F.3d at 22 n.1

(“Substantial evidence is not a rubber stanp.”).

I11. W THDRAWAL OF RECOGNI Tl ON
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The Board found t hat on Decenber 6 Ryan recei ved a petition
fromsone fifty-five cross-over and repl acenent workers (out of atotal
of ninety-five enployees), stating that they did not want to be
represented by the Uni on. On Decenmber 7 Ryan wi t hdrewrecognition
based on the petition. On Decenber 8 the Union advised that its
menmber s woul d unconditionally returnto work on Decenber 11. On that
date, Ryan declinedtoreinstate the strikers, although sonetine | ater
it offeredreinstatenent to all but twelve of the original sixty-one
strikers. The Board found the wi thdrawal of recognition “in the
cont ext of unrenmedi ed unfair | abor practices on Decenmber 7" to be a
viol ation of Section 8(a)(5).

During the termof a CBA, an i ncunbent uni on enjoys an

i rrebuttabl e presunption of majority enpl oyee support. See Auciello

I ron Wrks, Inc. v. NLRB, 517 U. S. 781, 786 (1996). Upon expiration of

t he contract, the enpl oyer can rebut that presunption and wi t hdraw
recognition if it can show either that the union in fact | acked
maj ority support or that the enpl oyer had a good faith, objectively

justified doubt regarding the union’s majority. See Destileria

Serrales, Inc. v. NLRB, 882 F. 2d 19, 20-21 (1st G r. 1989). However,

i f an enpl oyer has “commtted as yet unrenedi ed unfair | abor practices
that could have reasonably tended to contribute to enployee

di saffectionfromthe union,” it may not rely on enpl oyee expressi ons

of disaffection, such as a petition, as a basis for withdrawal of
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recognition. United Supermarkets, Inc. v. NLRB, 862 F. 2d 549, 553 n. 6

(5th Cir. 1989) (citingcChicago Magnesi umCastings Co., 256 NLRB 668,

674 (1981)); accord Bol ton-Enerson, Inc. v. NLRB, 899 F. 2d 104, 107-08
(1st Gr. 1989) (“justifiedw thdrawal [of recognition] requires . . .

a context free of unfair | abor practices”); Soul e d ass, 652 F. 2d at

1110. The General Counsel nust prove a causal relationship
bet ween unrenedi ed unfair | abor practices andthe | oss of majority
status, but direct evidence show ng actual taint i s not required. See

Uni t ed Supermarkets, Inc., 862 F.2d at 552 n. 5. It is sufficient that

the unfair | abor practices woul d reasonably tend to cause enpl oyee

di saffection. See NNRBv. H -Tech Cable Corp., 128 F. 3d 271, 279 (5th

Cir. 1997). Factors typically consideredinclude: (1) the |l ength of
time between the unfair |abor practices and the w thdrawal of
recognition; (2) the nature of the illegal acts, including the
possibility of their detrinental or |asting effect on enpl oyees; (3)
any possi bl e t endency of the unfair | abor practices to cause enpl oyee
di saffection fromthe union; and (4) the effect of the unl awful conduct
on enpl oyee noral e, organi zati onal activities, and nenbershipinthe

uni on. Master Sl ack Corp., 271 NLRB 78, 84 (1984). Here, the petition

was presented si x weeks after the direct dealingincident and four
weeks after the unl awful Novenber 6 i npl enment ati on, both vi ol ati ons of
a type that weaken the aut hority of a uni on and encour age enpl oyees to

doubt its ability to successfully represent them Wilewethinkitis
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a cl ose question, we concl ude t hat t he Board coul d reasonabl y consi der
t hat these two unfair | abor practices, particularly in conbination,
“significantly contributed” tothe Union’s |loss of majority status.

Wllianms Enters., Inc., 312 NLRB 937, 940 (1993), enforced, NLRBv.

Wlliams Enters., Inc., 50 F.3d 1280 (4th Cir. 1995). We therefore

affirmthe Board s bargaining order.

Because the stri ke ended at approxi nately the sane ti nme as
the wi t hdrawal of recognition (at | east thereis no evidence of any
enpl oyees bei ng repl aced on Decenmber 7 or 8), conversionis not an
i ssue and we do not read t he Board' s order as nmaki ng a det erm nati on of
conver si on based on wi t hdrawal of recognition. Because we reject the
Board’ s determ nati ons of conversi on on Cct ober 23 or Novenber 11, the
strikersareentitledonly tothe reinstatenent rights of econom c

strikers. See Rose Printing Co., 289 NLRB 252, 253 (1988).

CONCLUSI ON

We affirm the Board’'s finding that the October 23
Shea/ Penni man conver sati on and t he Novenber 6 unil ateral inpl enentation
of Ryan’ s bargai ni ng proposal constituted unfair |abor practices.
Further, we affirm the Board’'s finding that these practices
“significantly contributed” tothe Union’s |oss of majority status.
Consequently, we affirmthat portion of the Board’ s renedi al order
ai med at undoing the effects of these practices. This includesthe

provi si ons of the order requiring Ryanto recogni ze and bargainwi th
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t he Union and, upon request, to rescind and conpensate for the
uni | at eral changes made on or after Novenber 6, 1995 to the terns of
enpl oynment for bargai ning unit enpl oyees. However, because we rej ect
t he Board’ s determ nati ons of conversi on, we deny enforcenent of that
portion of the Board’ s order granting reinstatenment and backpay to
unfair | abor practice strikers. Because we findthat no conversi on,
and hence no unfair | abor practice strike, occurred, thisrelief is no
| onger apposite. Accordingly, the Board’ s application for enforcenent
of its order is granted in part and denied in part.

GRANTED in part, DENED in part.
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